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THE ATTACHED SHEETS HEREBY BECOME A PART OF THE ABOVE 
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Responses to questions received by the deadline of June 8, 2017 and 
those asked at the Pre-bid meeting on June 15, 2017. 

 
 
 
      ___________________________ 
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      _____________________________   
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RFP HSS 17 021 

CANCER SCREENING QUALITY IMPROVEMENT THROUGH PATIENT NAVIGATION 
 

Questions and Answers 
 

Questions submitted by 6/8/17  

1. What are the qualifications of a Patient Navigator? (i.e. any specific minimum 
clinical/certification level such as an LPN or RN) 
 
Answer: The position can be filled with a nurse.   Both a LPN and RN would be acceptable.   
 

2. What is the total amount of time of the award after the October 1, 2017 start? 1 year? 2 
years? 
 
Answer: The first contract will end at the fiscal year (June 30, 2018) and can be renewed for up 
to four additional fiscal years.   

 
3. Is there a limited dollar amount of funding per award per year?  

 
Answer: At this time we do not have a cap.   We look forward to receiving reasonable budgets 
for the services that are to be provided.   

 
4. Where can the budget guidelines be accessed as referenced in the RFP on page 23? 

 
Answer: Each bidder must submit one budget and corresponding budget justification for each 
category bid.  

 
5. If there are limits in the amount of funding, does this only apply to direct costs or does this 

include indirect costs? 
 

Answer: At this time there is not a limited dollar amount, however, indirect costs can’t exceed 
%15..   We look forward to receiving reasonable budgets for the services that are to be 
provided.   

 

Questions asked at the Pre-bid meeting 6/15/17 

1. What is the number of patient navigators that could be hired; could there be more than one? 

Answer: This will be determined during the contract negotiation period.  If the bidder includes 
more than one patient navigator in their proposal they should include a justification of why an 
additional navigator(s) is needed. 
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2. Are we able to request three navigators? 

Answer: Determining the number of navigators can be a discussion as part of the contract 
negotiations and will be contingent upon the amount of funding the program receives and the 
need for multiple navigators at a site.   

3. Could a lay navigator meet the qualifications of the Patient Navigator? 
 

Answer: No. The Patient Navigator can be an LPN or RN. 
 

4. You discussed a patient navigation certification course.  Are we able to have the patient 
navigator complete this course prior to the contract periods? 

Answer: The certification course can be completed online.  At the present time there is not a 
specific course that must be utilized.  You can include reimbursement for the certification course 
for the patient navigator(s) included in the awarded contract, however the course must be 
completed during the contract period in order to receive reimbursement. 
 

5. Can Televox be utilized? 
 

Answer: Yes. 
 

6. Can you further explain the documentation tools on page 6 of the RFP? 

Answer: The tools have not been fully developed and are still being worked on.  All of the work 
outlined in the proposal and job description will need to be reported on. 

7. Will FITs be provided? 

Answer: Fecal Immunochemical Test (FIT) cards will not be covered with federal funds.   FITs are 
reimbursable through the Screening for Life (SFL) program for SFL clients.  

 
8. Can you further explain Budget guidelines on page 23 of the RFP? 

Answer: We are asking that you submit your proposed budget with appropriate and correlating 
justifications. 

 
9. On page 4 of the Request for Proposal, websites with Evidence Based Interventions are listed; 

are other sources of evidence based interventions allowable? 

Answer: The interventions that appear on those website are recognized by the CDC as being 
evidence based, however, other evidence based interventions can be utilized.  If choosing other 
evidence based interventions, citations for the alternate evidence based interventions must be 
included in the proposal.  

 
10. Is there a certain template for qualifications? 

Answer: We do not specify. 
 



4 
 

11. Are patient navigators able to complete enrollment for SFL clients? 

Answer: No.  The patient navigator can work with the Screening for Life Enrollment Specialists 
and if applicable Health Promotion Advocates currently located at Federally Qualified Health 
Centers to assist in the enrollment process. 

 
12. Are we able to provide client information from the SFL program to the patient navigators to 

assist with navigation? 

Answer: A business associate agreement would be completed in conjunction with an awarded 
contract, to allow the patient navigator to have read-only access to the database.    

13.  Are we able to do both, obtain database access and enroll clients? 

Answer: The Patient Nurse Navigator will work with SFL enrollment specialists and/or Health 
Promotion Advocates (HPA) to help them with the application process. In order for data sharing 
to happen a business agreement would have to be signed. Patient Navigator will be able to have 
“Read Only” access to the database. 

 
14. Are we able to add additional staff? 

Answer: Additional support can be added if needed.   Bidders should include a justification on 
the need for additional staff and how the support will be utilized.  

 
15.  Is a baseline report required? 

Answer: Yes this is required to collect baseline data for CDC reporting.  The expectation is to see 
an increase in screening rates after implementation of approved evidence based interventions. 

 
16. Since there is the potential for a five year program, are there any considerations or 

renegotiations to accommodate the potential in increased growth with an increase in staff? 

Answer: Contract negotiations occur every year.  There can be slight changes; however, this 
work is primarily funded utilizing federal funds, so increases are dependent on the level of 
funding the program receives. 

 
17.  Will grants be submitted to more than one partner, for example, we are looking to partner 

with another hospital? 

Answer: When partnering with another hospital, the hospital would be considered a partner or 
subcontractor of the bidding agency. Only one bid should be submitted for a partnership or sub-
contractual relationship. 

18.  Will multiple awards be granted? 

Answer: Yes we anticipate multiple awards. 
 

19. Will we be able to purchase technology, like iPads? 

Answer: If the bidder would like to purchase technology they can include it in their proposal and 
the program will review the federal guidelines to determine if the use of the proposed 
technology is an allowable and appropriate expense to carry out the work in the proposal.  
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Equipment and supplies can be included as a line item in the budget and discussed during 
contract negotiations if the bidder is selected.  

20.  What is the process after the first year of the contract? 

Answer: Year one of this contract will run October 2017 through the end of June 2018, and 
contract negotiations for subsequent years will begin April/May for the contract to have a July 
1st start date. Contracts typically run July 1st-June 30th every year. 

21.  Can the Navigator focus on one specific disease site or will be required to be a general 
cancer screening navigator?  

Answer: The program is looking for patient navigators to navigate patients through the breast, 
cervical, and colorectal cancer process.   The bidder can submit a proposal to have patient’s 
navigated through the screening process that matches with their patient flow.  This may include 
a team of site specific navigators or one navigator who can simultaneously navigate clients for 
several cancer screenings at once.   The bidder should include the rational for their approach.    
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